
CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  1 
 

MINUTES OF SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MARIN VALLEY MOBILE COUNTRY CLUB 

100 MARIN VALLEY DRIVE 
MONDAY, FEBRUARY 27, 2012 – 6:30 P.M. 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER  
 
 ROLL CALL  
  
 Present: Mayor Athas 
   Mayor Pro Tem Eklund 
   Councilmember Kellner 
   Councilmember Lucan 
   Councilmember MacLeamy 
 
 Absent:  None 
  

Also Present:  Assistant City Manager Cathy Capriola, Finance Manager 
Brian Cochran, Senior Engineer Julian Skinner, Assistant City Attorney 
Veronica Nebb and City Clerk Sheri Hartz. 

 
B.  APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund moved, Seconded by Councilmember MacLeamy, to approve the 
Final Agenda, moving item #5 to the first item on General Business. The motion carried.   
 
C.  PUBLIC COMMENT  
 

1. Mike Read, spoke regarding a handout related to a 1997 Marin IJ article, 
stating that residents had purchased the mobile home park, and that confusion 
goes back a long time.  He said that formerly the City did not want to be the 
owner of the Park, and that residents paid an extra 5.8% toward ownership, 
which has gone up since then.   
 

2.  Ray Schneider, stated, regarding refinancing, that there had been 18 months to 
either refinance or pay $150,000 and asked for a status update.  Regarding the 
change of ownership, he stated that three residents have presented on three 
different forms of ownership other than status quo and asked the Council 
whether those on the forum committee are wasting their effort. 

 
3.  Jack Brandon, who bought in the Park three years ago, shared a story he had 

written and related it to the situation at the park, stating that the City had 
"inherited" the park due to the Governor's actions. He concluded that the 
Council should not react with greed, but should do the right thing. 

 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  2 
 

4.  Owen Haxton, stated that, regarding renegotiation, the PAC and Al Frei have 
done a good job.  He continued that City staff does not have time to oversee 
this project, and that it seems some staff must be added. 

  
5.  Jim Hirais, stated that while he appreciates Council coming to the Park for its 

meetings, the fact that they are not recorded means that the housebound 
cannot attend. He also referred to an email he sent about the purchase of the 
park, stating that he’d been told there was no direction from Council at this 
time to look into purchase.   

 
6.  Eileen Cedron, stated that there was no management in the Park, that she has 

written to Council and staff that her utility costs have spiked and that PG&E 
has said they can do nothing.  She said that the City owes her a written 
response and an audit of what was happening with utility costs.   

 
7.  Henry Frummer, thanked the City for saving the park twice since he moved in 

1988, stating that his rent had increased many times but since the City 
purchased, the rents have stabilized. He stated he didn't believe the 
explanation of why utility bills went up in March over those in winter months.   

 
8.  Ellen Schultz, stated she had bought in the Park nine years ago, and was told 

that it was resident-owned park and asked what had happened to resident 
controlled ownership? She said that a majority voted for the 501-3c but 
negotiations abruptly stopped, adding that she was concerned about the rent 
increase promised to Assured Guaranty, and wondered what was to stop the 
City from taking money from the Park to pay for pensions. 

 
8.  Mike Holland, regarding the bucket analysis, requested completion of the 

transfer of $130,000 for use on capital projects.  He said that the final project 
on the east wall was now in progress and that there are still funds in the 
owners’ account to be transferred into the capital account.  

 
D.  CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
 1. ADOPT MINUTES OF OCTOBER 28, 2011 
 

2. BUCKET ANALYSIS FOR PERIODS ENDING OCTOBER 31, 2011, 
NOVEMBER 30, 2011, DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND JANUARY 31, 
2012 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund moved, Seconded by Councilmember Lucan, to approve the 
Consent Calendar. The motion carried.   
 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  3 
 

E. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
 5. RECEIPT OF FINANCIAL AUDIT FY 10/11 
 
  Consider Receiving the Financial Audit FY 10/11 
 
Brian Cochran, Finance Manager, gave the staff report, stating that, in prior years, the 
City issued smaller individual statements, including the NFA.  He said that, due to 
changes of the transfer of property from the NFA to the City, the City’s auditors have 
recommended that MVMCC be set up as an enterprise fund of the City.  He responded to 
questions from the Council and Assistant City Attorney Nebb, in response to a question 
raised during Public Comment, stated that cash trap funds are restricted to being used for 
debt service and that the City has no authority to use them for anything else, such as 
pensions. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
1.  Owen Haxton, asked whether, under the current change, was there assurance that 

no commingling of funds will occur, to which Mr. Cochran responded that the 
ledger is separate.  

 
2. Mike Read, stating during his time on the NFA he had always voted against rent 
 increases.  He referred to the Assured Guaranty demand for a 100% of CPI 
 increase, and said that the bond should be paid off in eight or nine years at current 
 rates.  He asked whether rent would be raised until the bonds are paid off and 
 whether there anything could be done to decrease rents. 
 
Ms. Capriola stated that Assured Guaranty agreed to no rent increase in past two years, 
however, Assured Guaranty had stated that they would not commit to no rent increases in 
the future.  
 
3. PROPERTY CONDITION REPORT STATUS UPDATE AND KEY FINDINGS 
 
 Consider Approving the Property Condition Report 
 
Senior Engineer Julian Skinner presented a Property Condition Report status update.  
He stated that the effort had begun a year previous, and that consultants had provided 
draft reports, the initial results of which would be shared with the PAC and Frei Real 
Estate.  He explained that an analysis of the Park’s infrastructure included underground 
and surface assets.  He said that after incorporation of Council, PAC and Frei input, the 
drafts would be used to prepare the Capital Improvement Plan. 
 
Mr. Skinner described the water services structure, stating it had been constructed in two 
phases, with Phase 1 having been installed in early 1970. He continued that Phase 2 was 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  4 
 

made of PVC pipe and that while Phase 1 (galvanized pipe) had reached the end of its 
serviceable life, Phase 2 had about 10-20 more years. 
 
As to the sewer system, he stated that it was a collection of gravity mains, sewage laterals 
and two pump stations.  He said that the gravity mains and laterals were at the end of 
their expected serviceable life for the materials used, but were found to be in good 
condition, and would not need to be replaced in the near future.  He also reported that the 
storm drains for road and hillside drainage were in good condition and that no significant 
issues with the system were identified. 
 
Regarding the dry utilities, Mr. Skinner reported that the high voltage primary electrical 
was serviced by PG&E and was all underground, concrete-encased and in good 
condition.  He said that the secondary lines were not encased, were nearing the end of 
their service life and that it was expected that they would need repair soon and eventual 
replacement.  For the natural gas, he reported that the lines were installed in a joint 
trench, which was about 40 years old and in better condition than expected, and that they 
were not identified as needing to be upgraded immediately.  
 
He reported that the Phase 1 galvanized water service pipes needed to be replaced and 
that the trench they were in ran under the coaches, making replacement complicated.  
He recommended that a master plan be created to relocate utilities rather than doing one 
at a time. 
 
Regarding the streets, Mr. Skinner reported that they were in generally good condition, 
and did not recommend changing the current practice. He also reported on geotechnical 
aspects of the Park, stating that 30 hillsides were looked at for possible improvements, to 
determine if the site was active or if there was a potential for damage and that a rating 
system would be used to determine which to look at first. 
 
Mr. Skinner reported on the Park’s current ADA compliance, stating that the Clubhouse 
had been analyzed and a list of issues created. He explained that a remodel would trigger 
state requirements to improve ADA and that a transition plan would be created for the 
federal requirements to be implemented over a five year period.  
 
Following his report, Mr. Skinner responded to Council questions. Mayor Pro Tem 
Eklund voiced concerns over drinking water quality due to the condition of the 
galvanized pipes, and he reported that the Water Agency would run tests to assure that 
there were no issued.  She stated that she hoped staff would look into moving the Park 
from Las Gallinas to Novato Sanitary District now that they had more capacity, and 
asked about the street foundation, to which Mr. Skinner replied that he had not seen any 
indication of a base failure.  
 
In response to a question from Councilmember MacLeamy, Mr. Skinner stated that it was 
not recommended to have wet and dry utilities in the same trench and that a master 
planning process will be undertaken.  Councilmember Lucan asked whether there were 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  5 
 

there any grants that the Park may be eligible for and Mr. Skinner replied that would also 
be looked at in master planning process. 
 
Councilmember Kellner, referring to a table in the report, asked whether there would be a 
risk assessment done so we know when to spend the money and over what period, to 
which Mr. Skinner responded that we would look at the history, work with management, 
and recognize that when needed repairs start to build up, it would be time to consider 
initiating larger scale projects. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
1.  Owen Haxton, asked about the impact of TPL (Trust for Public Land) property on 
 our slide situation, stating that in 1997, they’d been told that the impact of ADA 
 upon mobile home parks was different than in other locations. 
 
2. Jim Hirais, asked about new homes being brought in with 200 amp services, 

stated that the 45 year old main switch was a single point of entry and that 
alternate service was needed.  He pointed out that PG&E only owned the main 
line, but that the secondary lines belonged to the Park.  He agreed that the Park 
should move to Novato Sanitary from Las Gallinas and related previous electric 
study that had been done, which found it to be too expensive to do in five years.   

 
3. Mike Read, stated that there had been money put aside for storm drain repair. 
 
4. Anila Manning, asked about pedestals and whether they had been studied.  
 
5. Catherine McNuttie, asked whether the graph showed locations and stated that, 

when deciding between high and low cost options, taking the cheapest way may 
not be the best choice.   

 
6. (Unknown Speaker), asked whether the multi-purpose trench should be relocated. 
 
7. John Shelfer, stated that a trench was going to be built in the wetlands from 

Lucas Valley to Hamilton, and that maybe it could be used to bring sewer towards 
Hamilton. 

 
8. Janine Bradley, asked whether utilities were considered capital assets. 
 
9. Ellen Schultz, asked about high tension wires over the Park, and whether their 
 stability had been looked at. 
 
Mr. Skinner responded to the issues raised during Public Comment, stating that pedestals 
are part of routine maintenance, and would be looked at as part of the report to make sure 
it was appropriate.  He said that other ideas mentioned would be incorporated into the 
final documents.  On the issue of the trench, he stated that the North Marin Water District 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  6 
 

project already had an approved EIR and that it would be difficult to piggyback on that 
when we were years away from implementing.  Regarding the primary electrical, 
he stated that information would be needed from the consultant, but it all looked good 
from the report. He stated that study of an alternate power supply was not within the 
scope of this study, but could be looked at in the future.  For relocation of the trench from 
underneath coaches, he stated that they would likely need to be moved.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT (continued) 
 
10. John Shelfer, spoke about alternate sources of energy, and possibly lowering 
 rates.  
 
11. Paul Abbott, seconded the idea of alternate energy, such as solar, and selling back 
 power.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund voiced concern that staff was recommending that Phase 1 for 
water be phased in over time, wondering if the timing should be decided after the water 
was tested. In response, Ms. Capriola stated that staff was looking for general direction to 
further refine the findings and will move forward to bring forward specific 
recommendations over the next couple of  years.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund moved, Seconded by Councilmember Lucan, to approve the 
Property Condition Report. The motion carried.   
 
4. PUBLIC REVIEW AND COMMENT ON THE NEGOTIATED DRAFT 
 DELEGATION AGREEMENT AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT.  
 PROVIDE DIRECTION ON AGREEMENTS TO RETURN ON MARCH 12 
 FOR APPROVAL, OR IF NO SIGNIFICANT CONCERNS EXPRESSED OR 
 DIRECTIONS NECESSARY, APPROVE THE NEGOTIATED DOCUMENTS 
 
Consider Approving the Delegation Agreement. 
 
Assistant City Manager Capriola provided opening remarks and gave history on the 
process.  She said that the last negotiations were conducted in October of 2010 and then 
extensions were granted to allow staff time to focus on other issues necessitated by the 
Governor's recent RDA actions.  She explained the negotiation team’s process and 
thanked Mike Holland and Jim Olson who were the PAC negotiators. She reported that 
redline versions of the documents had been distributed, along with a summary of major 
changes, clarification of roles, and a recommendation for a compensation adjustment for 
Frei Real Estate for their management of the Park, since staff found that the current 
compensation was not in line with current practices at other parks.  She concluded her 
remarks by stating that Assured Guaranty was the bond company and as such, had the 
right to edit and approve any changes to the document, and had in fact provided some 
minor edits.  
 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  7 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
1.  Dave Harrington, stated that he was disappointed with Council and this document, 

and had been assured by Council that transfer of the Park would be on the agenda 
during the first quarter.  He said that he didn’t accept excuses, had asked Council 
to put same effort into accomplishing the transfer as they did into stopping it.  
He concluded by stating that the City didn't do its homework or meet 
commitments and that Council reaction wasn't consistent or unbiased.  

 
2. Anila Manning, asked whether a mention in the Delegation Agreement of sites 

being reserved for families of lower income meant that the Park was no longer an 
adult community.  She also asked what rates are being referred to in the major 
summary, item #3. 

 
3. Jack Brandon, asked that the Council not take action and stating that the PAC did 

not do a good job of making the documents available to residents.  He said he 
didn’t think many had read the document and that no effort was made to explain 
it.   

 
4. Eileen Cedron asked how the PAC would find a portion of land for low and 

moderate income persons and families and what the ages of those persons would 
be.  

 
5. Owen Haxton, stated that he had read the redline Delegation Agreement and that 
 residents should not be expected to review it and give their blessings in 1.5 weeks.  
 
6. Peggy Hill, speaking for herself, said she had reviewed the documents and found 

that it was mostly orders for PAC to do things and that they are basically unpaid 
volunteers with no staff. 

 
7. John Shelfer, stated that he liked PAC to have oversight of the Park.  He said that 

respect should be given to intelligent residents of the Park who could have 
valuable input and that, in the aftermath of the RDA action, he suspected that 
negotiations were going on with Assured Guaranty without anyone knowing 
about it. He concluded by saying that the contractor should not make decisions 
about what will be placed on the east wall.   

 
8. Gary Appleman, said he was a new resident and never saw copy of the contract. 

He asked for clarification on 2(a) Accountability - to what does "items" refer, and 
weren’t those the property of the project, rather than of the City.   

 
9. Jan Thomas, referred to a letter she had written to Council on the delegation 

agreement and stated that she had read the entire document and downloaded the 
agenda packet, which anyone could have done.  She said most of the agreement 
was standard language and that she felt heard by the Council. 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  8 
 

 
10. Susanna Divey, thanked the Council for their efforts on behalf of the Park and 

asked whether there was any reference to density of mobile units in the Park, if it 
will remain the same or be lower than current numbers and will it remain a senior 
park. 

 
11. Valerie Barber, stated that residents should have had the opportunity to have their 

own lawyers look at the delegation agreement, as it was hard to interpret. She 
asked whether Council thought that the agreement as written would be negative if 
residents tried to acquire the Park. 

 
12. Judy Vucchi, said that she understood that the delegation agreement largely 

reduces the ability of PAC to influence the City on the day-to-day running of the 
park.  She stated that this benefitted the City, but it was residents who have paid 
for the asset while the City has paid nothing.  She continued by saying that PAC 
was a party to the agreement, and as such, there was a serious conflict of interest.  

 
13. Jim Hirais, referred to PAC negotiations over two years, stating that in that same 

time, about 68 residents have left.  He said there was a lack of remembrance of 
why this was brought to the City in the first place which was fear that their own 
representation was selling them down the river. He concluded by asking why the 
negotiation meetings could not have been open meetings. 

 
14. Paul Abbott, stated that he knows that the only difference between Council and 

other politicians was the size of the city/jurisdictions and that they put in long 
hours of work.  He said, however, that he was promised that Council would 
eventually transfer ownership of Park.  

 
15. Mike Read, provided history of the PAC formation, and said it shouldn't be told 
 how to do its own bylaws. 
 
16. Rick Oltman, said he doesn’t believe the City has any intention of ever 

transferring project ownership. He stated that City property should be bought by 
all Novato taxpayers, that improvements should not be paid for by 400 residents, 
but as it was an asset, should be paid for by the entire community.  

 
17.  Owen Haxton, suggested that the three Councilmembers who have worked on the 

process as an incorporator consider extending the current delegation agreement 
for another term.  

 
18. Jack Brandon, added to previous comments that the residents should have legal 

representation, and stated that he would be willing to contribute toward attorney 
costs.  

 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  9 
 

19. Henry Furmer asked what the past practice was of paying for projects for assets 
 that become City property. 
 
20. Bill Davis, requested that the time be extended to allow time for residents to 
 digest the information. 
 
21. Eileen Cedron, asked about the relationship between the Park and the Council, 

whether the Council owns the property the same way they would own any other 
piece of property and what its obligations to the residents are. 

 
Mayor Pro Tem asked whether the public had been given proper advance access to the 
documents, based on Public Comment remarks.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT (continued) 
 
20. David Harrington, clarified that only two or three people had stated they didn't 
 have access to the documents.  
 
In response, Ms. Capriola reported on the process that was undertaken to 
publicize/distribute the documents in advance, stating that it had been over and above 
what was customarily done or was required. 
 
Regarding Article 3 of the delegation agreement, Assistant City Attorney Nebb explained 
that in regard to the Park being affordable for families, this was the original language and 
not a change of any sort.  She explained that the original bonds were tax exempt, and so 
had restrictions which included the requirement that there be some form of affordable 
housing. As to whether that language meant that the park could be used for non-senior 
housing, she stated that many of the park documents have language that specifies that 
residents must be 55+.  She also pointed out wording on page 8 regarding preservation of 
the land as a senior park.  
 
Ms. Nebb also responded to question about conflicts of interest related to the bidding 
process.  She explained that the Brown Act will be adhered to and that public contract 
code will be followed by Park management.  She said that there are state regulations that 
prescribe that you may not act in your own self interest, but this was difficult for PAC 
members as they are all residents and thereby affected by decisions they make, so the 
intent of the provision was to assure fair bidding practices.  
 
To the question on who was the owner of the Park, Ms. Nebb stated that the owner of the 
Park, including all improvements and tangible assets, was the City of Novato.  She 
recommended that from this point forward, all items should be inventoried, because there 
are some assets that were not purchased with park assets but were perhaps acquired 
through donation, grant or other funding mechanism.  She advised that, if park rent was 
used to procure inventory, a process must be engaged in to dispose of it, and stated that 
this was not a change.  



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  10 
 

 
In regard to changes requested by Assured Guaranty, Ms. Nebb clarified that Assured 
Guaranty had asked for other changes regarding increased control on their part, that staff 
had argued with them about that, and they conceded the points. Related to operating and 
capital budgets, she stated that PAC works on a budget which both the City and Assured 
Guaranty have the right to pass and approve.  As previously written, she said, the process 
wasn't clear as to how deviations could be approved and that the purpose of the provision 
was to outline what happens between the contractor, PAC, the City and Assured 
Guaranty.  She explained that major changes would have to go through entire budget 
adjustment process.  
 
In response to a question as to whether the changes to the delegation and management 
agreements changed PAC's role, Ms. Nebb stated that the roles weren’t changed, but 
rather, the new agreement explicitly stated things that were previously only implied and 
that the intention was for the PAC to take the primary role in working with the Manager, 
but with residents involved in the process. 
 
As to density, she stated that all land that was developable was already developed and 
that, in any case, a land use process would have to be undertaken to add density.   
 
Regarding whether there was there anything in the changes to the delegation and 
management agreements that would make it harder to transfer the park, Ms. Nebb 
answered no, stating that if the City was out of the Park, these documents, which govern 
the City’s relationship with the Park and the day-to-day operations with Al Frei, would 
go away.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund suggested that language defining a senior park be added to the 
definitions and Ms. Nebb said that it could be.  
 
Regarding whether an amount of money had been taken from the Park, Ms. Nebb 
speculated that Assured Guaranty charged a fee for consent to the transfer, as they often 
charge the project various fees which are built into the bond documents and that the need 
to move forward at the time may have been worth the cost to maintain the status quo.   
 
In response to a question regarding the contractor selection for the project on the east 
wall of the clubhouse, it was reported that PAC oversaw the process that was undertaken, 
and that the City had no involvement in picking contractor or the design or anything other 
than providing a form of contract. Mike Holland of PAC further clarified that the project 
has been in the budget for at least three years, and that the only change has been the 
seismic study.   
 
The Mayor asked for an explanation of why the negotiations were closed, and Ms. Nebb 
stated that when the process was originally outlined, it was decided that a committee 
would undertake it.  She said that there was no intent to cut the process off, that staff had 
been willing to meet with residents regarding interests, concerns, etc. and in fact did so, 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  11 
 

with all input received and incorporated.  She said that the residents’ representation was 
through PAC and Council's was through staff.  
 
Councilmember MacLeamy responded to Mr. Harrington's comment.  She read from past 
minutes of the City Council and explained the way items get approved for a Council 
agenda. 
 
A speaker reiterated his question about whether the Park was unique in paying for the 
asset as a small group rather than it being funded by all taxpayers.  Ms. Nebb responded 
that the City paid for the Park out of bond proceeds and in so doing had to pledge certain 
income which was the rent from the park.  She explained that rent could not be used for 
any other purpose than to pay off the bonds and that public agencies often pledge income 
in this way to get bonds.   She noted that the downtown BID and Landscape districts were 
structured in the same way, pledging income to pay costs and/or bonds. She also reported 
on another jurisdiction that was structured the same way, stating that staff was aware of 
only four parks total in the state owned by cities.  
 
This item was continued to Monday, March 12, 2012.  Council directed staff to hold a 
public workshop between now and then to further explain the documents, stating that the 
date and time for the workshop would be set at the end of this evening’s agenda.   
 
6. FY 11/12 MID-YEAR BUDGET REVIEW 
 
Consider receiving the Mid-Year Budget Review and approving the FY 11/12 Mid-Year 
Budget. 
 
Mike Holland, PAC, gave the presentation, stating that there were no changes 
recommended. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 
None 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Eklund moved, Seconded by Councilmember Lucan, to receive and 
approve the FY 11/12 Mid-Year Budget. The motion carried.   
 
7. MVMCC: MARIN ENERGY AUTHORITY (MEA) UPDATE 
 
Consider receiving the Marin Energy Authority Update   
 
Ms. Capriola provided an update on the upcoming opportunity for joining Marin Clean 
Energy, stating that the issue was different here because the Park was on a master meter.  
She said that the decision would be made by Council and will be either to stay with 
PG&E or go with MCE.  She reported that the analysis would be provided to Council and 
residents beforehand.  



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  12 
 

 
In response to a question from Mayor Pro Tem Eklund as to whether thought had been 
given to taking an advisory vote of the residents, possibly through the PAC, Ms. Capriola 
stated that MEA would be holding a resident workshop prior to the decision being made, 
and Mayor Pro Tem Eklund stated that any presentation given should be balanced. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
1. Ray Schneider, stated that some form of polling or voting should be done by a 
 none-Park entity and agreed that PG&E should also be offered an opportunity to 
 present.  
 
2. Jim Hirais, asked how these efforts would be funded. 
 
 
F. REGULAR REPORTS 
 
 8. PARK MANAGEMENT UPDATE: AL FREI 
 
  Mr. Frei was absent due to illness and no report was given.  
 
 9. UPDATE FROM PAC: MICHAEL HOLLAND 
   

a. Mr. Holland reported that at PAC meeting recently, the Board 
approved a resolution asking City staff to immediately start 
looking at refinancing or looking at other types of financing.  
He said that related questions were  what options are legally 
available, what happens if we refinance and don't have bonds and 
how would that change the relationships and protections that are 
currently in place. 

 
b. He reported that Mr. Frei has put together a draft budget which 

PAC has returned for changes. 
 

c. He stated that the intent of the City and PAC was to maintain 
affordability.  He said that PAC will argue for no rent increase in 
the coming year, although Assured Guaranty will undoubtedly 
require one.  In explanation of why there should be no rent 
increase, he stated that they rent the pads and that their rent was 
used for maintenance, debt service, etc., which was no different 
than condos or town homes.  He said that space rents at the Park 
run from $486 to over $900 per month, which was more expensive 
than townhome homeowner's fees and that PAC was concerned 
about maintaining affordability and keeping rents where they are.  

 



CC120227_MVMCC 
6/26/2012  13 
 

The public workshop previously described was set for Thursday March 8, 2012, at 
6:30 p.m. at the MVMCC Clubhouse.  Ms. Capriola and Ms. Nebb would attend and 
bring copies of the agreements for the public.  
 
H. ADJOURNMENT  9:57 p.m. 
  
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly and regularly adopted at a 
regular meeting of the Novato City Council. 
 
____________________________ 
Sheri Hartz, City Clerk 


